POPULAR INC Form S-3 June 28, 2002

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 28, 2002

Registration No. 333-

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM S-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Popular, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Puerto Rico

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

66-0416582

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

209 Muñoz Rivera Avenue San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918 (787) 765-9800

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

Jorge A. Junquera Popular, Inc. 209 Muñoz Rivera Avenue San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918 (787) 753-1017

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

Brunilda

Santos de Alvarez,

Esq.

Eduardo J.

Arias

Popular,

Inc.

Pietrantoni

Méndez &

Alvarez

LLP 209

Muñoz

Rivera Avenue Banco **Popular** Center, Suite 1901 San Juan, **Puerto** Rico 00918 209 Muñoz Rivera **Avenue** (787) 753-1017 San Juan, PR 00918 (787)274-4910

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after the effective date of the Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box. o

If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. x

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. o

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of securities to be registered	Amount to be registered (1)	Proposed maximum aggregate price per unit (2)	Proposed maximum aggregate offering price(2)	Amount of registration fee
Common Stock, \$6.00 par value per share (including attached rights to purchase Series A Participating Preferred Stock)	3,000,000 shares	\$ 32.2375	\$96,712,500	\$8,897.55

⁽¹⁾ Pursuant to Rule 416, this registration statement also covers an indeterminate number of shares of common stock which may be issued by the registrant from time to time by virtue of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions involving the registrant s common stock.

⁽²⁾ Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(c), on the basis of the average of the high and low sales price per share of the Common Stock on June 26, 2002, as reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation National Market System.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

POPULAR, INC.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

<u>Purpose</u>

Advantages and Disadvantages of Participation in Plan

Participation

Purchases Under the Plan

Optional Cash Payments

Costs

Administration

Reports to Participants

Certificates for Shares

Withdrawals, Sale of Shares and Termination

Certain Tax Consequences of Participation in the Plan

General Tax Consequences

Puerto Rico Income Tax Consequences

Federal Income Tax Consequences

Other Information

STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

USE OF PROCEEDS

INCORPORATION OF INFORMATION WE FILE WITH THE SEC

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

LEGAL MATTERS

EXPERTS

Opinion of Brunilda Santos de Alvarez, Esq.

Opinion of Pietrantoni Mendez & Alvarez

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Specimen Authorization form (English Version)

Specimen Authorization Form (Spanish Version)

Specimen Broker and Nominee Form

Table of Contents

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to completion, dated June 28, 2002

PROSPECTUS

POPULAR, INC.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan Common Stock, Par Value \$6 Per Share

This prospectus describes the Popular, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. The Plan promotes long-term ownership in Popular, Inc. by offering:

A simple, cost-effective method for you to purchase shares of common stock of Popular, Inc. without paying of brokerage commissions, fees or service charges;

A way to increase your Popular, Inc. holdings by reinvesting your cash dividends; and

The opportunity for you to purchase additional shares of Popular, Inc. common stock by making optional cash payments. You do not have to be a current Popular, Inc. shareholder to participate in the Plan. You can purchase your first shares of Popular, Inc. common stock through the Plan by making an initial investment of not less than \$100 or more than \$10,000. If you currently participate in the Plan, you will continue to participate in the Plan automatically.

This prospectus relates to the offering of up to 3,000,000 shares of Popular, Inc. common stock to be offered for purchase under the Plan, subject to adjustment for stock splits and similar events. Shares will be purchased at the prices described in Question 10 of this prospectus.

The shares of Popular, Inc. common stock are traded on the Nasdaq National Market System under the symbol BPOP .

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any Commonwealth of Puerto Rico or state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or has determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The shares of Popular, Inc. common stock purchased or held under the terms of the Plan are not savings accounts or deposits of any bank or savings association, are not insured by the FDIC or any other governmental agency and may lose value. There is no bank guarantee attached to these securities.

The date of this prospectus is June , 2002.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

	Page
POPULAR, INC	1
DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN	1
Purpose	1
Advantages and Disadvantages of Participation in Plan	2
Participation	2
Purchases Under the Plan	4
Optional Cash Payments	5
Costs	5
Administration	6
Reports to Participants	6
Certificates for Shares	6
Withdrawals, Sale of Shares and Termination	7
Certain Tax Consequences of Participation in the Plan	8
General Tax Consequences	8
Puerto Rico Income Tax Consequences	8
Federal Income Tax Consequences	10
Other Information	10
STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN	12
USE OF PROCEEDS	12
INCORPORATION OF INFORMATION WE FILE WITH THE SEC	13
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	13
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS	14
LEGAL MATTERS	14
EXPERTS	14

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or contained in this prospectus. No one is authorized to provide prospective investors with information different from that incorporated by reference or contained in this prospectus. This prospectus is not an offer to sell nor is it seeking an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Table of Contents

POPULAR, INC.

Popular, Inc. is a diversified, publicly owned bank holding company, registered under the Bank Holding Company Act and subject to supervision and regulation by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Popular, Inc. was incorporated in 1984 under the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and is the largest financial institution in Puerto Rico.

Popular, Inc. s principal subsidiary, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, was incorporated in 1893 and is Puerto Rico s largest bank. A consumer-oriented bank, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico has the largest retail franchise and the largest trust operation in Puerto Rico. Banco Popular de Puerto Rico also operates one or more branches in the U.S. Virgin Islands, the British Virgin Islands and New York. Banco Popular de Puerto Rico s deposits are insured under the Bank Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Banco Popular de Puerto Rico has three subsidiaries: Popular Auto, Inc., Puerto Rico s largest vehicle financing, leasing and daily rental company; Popular Finance, Inc., a small-loan and second mortgage company in Puerto Rico and Popular Mortgage, Inc., a mortgage loan company in Puerto Rico.

Popular, Inc. has three other principal subsidiaries: Popular Securities, Inc., Popular International Bank, Inc. and GM Group, Inc. Popular Securities, Inc. is a securities broker-dealer in Puerto Rico with financial advisory, investment and security brokerage operations for institutional and retail customers. GM Group, Inc. provides electronic data processing and consulting services, sale and rental of electronic data processing equipment and sale and maintenance of computer software to clients in the United States, the Caribbean and Latin America through offices in Puerto Rico, Miami, Venezuela and the Dominican Republic.

Popular International Bank, Inc. owns all the outstanding shares of Popular North America, Inc., ATH Costa Rica and Crest, S.A. It also owns a minority interest in Centro Financiero BHD, S.A., a diversified financial company in the Dominican Republic. Popular North America functions as a holding company for Popular, Inc. s mainland U.S. operations. Popular North America, Inc. has five wholly owned direct subsidiaries: Banco Popular North America, Inc., a full service commercial bank incorporated in New York State; Equity One, Inc., a diversified consumer finance company; Popular Cash Express, Inc., a retail financial services company; BanPonce Trust I, a statutory business trust; and Banco Popular, National Association, a national bank headquartered in Orlando, Florida. Banco Popular, National Association, commenced operations as a full service commercial bank on July 1, 2000. Popular Insurance, Inc., a wholly owned non-bank subsidiary of Banco Popular, National Association, and an indirect subsidiary of Popular North America, Inc., also commenced operations on July 1, 2000. Popular Insurance, Inc. is a general insurance agency that offers insurance products in Puerto Rico.

Banco Popular North America, Inc. conducts banking operations in the mainland United States. The deposits of Banco Popular North America, Inc. are insured under the Bank Insurance Fund of the FDIC.

In addition, Popular, Inc. has an 85% investment in Levitt Mortgage Holding Corporation, a mortgage banking organization with operations in Puerto Rico.

Popular, Inc. s principal executive offices are located at 209 Muñoz Rivera Avenue, Hato Rey, Puerto Rico 00918, and its telephone number is (787) 765-9800.

In this prospectus, references to we, us and our refer to Popular, Inc. and references to Banco Popular refer to Banco Popular de Puerto Rico.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

We have set forth the provisions of the Plan below in question and answer form.

Purpose

1. What is the purpose of the Plan?

The Plan was adopted by our Board of Directors on February 12, 1991. The primary purpose of the Plan, as amended, is to provide our shareholders and other investors with a simple, economical and convenient method of investing cash dividends and optional cash payments in shares of common stock without payment of brokerage commissions, service charges or other fees. When such additional shares are

purchased directly from us, we will receive additional funds for general corporate purposes.

-

Table of Contents

The Plan is intended for the benefit of long-term investors, and not for the benefit of individuals or institutions who engage in short-term trading activities that cause aberrations in the composite trading volume of our common stock.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Participation in Plan

2. What are the advantages and disadvantages of the Plan?

Advantages

You may have cash dividends on all or part of your shares of common stock automatically reinvested in additional shares at 95% of the Average Market Price (as defined in Question 10).

You may make optional cash payments of at least \$25 and not more than \$10,000 per calendar month for investment in additional shares of common stock. Residents of Puerto Rico may make optional cash payments by authorizing the Plan Administrator to debit their accounts at Banco Popular or using the telephone payment service known as Telebanco Popular.

If you are not presently a shareholder of Popular, Inc. you may become a participant by making an initial cash investment of not less than \$100 and not more than \$10,000 to purchase shares of common stock under the Plan.

You will not pay any brokerage commissions, service charges or other fees in connection with the purchase of shares of common stock under the Plan.

Your funds will be fully invested because the Plan permits fractions of shares to be credited to your account.

If you are a registered holder you may direct the Plan Administrator to sell all or a portion of your shares held in the Plan.

You can avoid record keeping costs and the need for safekeeping of stock certificates for shares credited to your Plan account through the free reporting and custodial services provided under the Plan.

Disadvantages

You will not be able to precisely time your purchases through the Plan and will bear the market risk associated with the fluctuations in the price of the common stock pending investment of funds under the Plan. See Question 11 regarding the timing of the purchase of shares.

Execution of sales of shares held in the Plan may be subject to delay. You will bear the market risk associated with the fluctuations in the price of the common stock pending the sale of your shares pursuant to the Plan. See Question 18.

You will not earn interest on funds held by the Plan Administrator pending investment of optional or initial cash payments. See Question 11.

You may not pledge the shares credited to your Plan account until you withdraw the shares from the Plan. See Question 21. **Participation**

3. Who is eligible to participate?

A registered holder , which means a shareholder whose shares of common stock are registered in our stock transfer books in his or her name, or a beneficial owner , which means a shareholder whose shares of common stock are registered in a name other than his or her name, for example, in the name of a broker, bank or other nominee, may participate in the Plan. If you are a registered holder you may participate in the Plan directly. If you are a beneficial owner you must either become a registered holder by having your shares transferred into your name or make arrangements with your broker, bank or other nominee to participate in the Plan on your behalf. In addition, if you are not currently a Popular, Inc. shareholder you may participate in the Plan by mailing an initial cash investment of not less than \$100 nor more than \$10,000.

Your right to participate in the Plan is not transferable to another person apart from a transfer of the underlying shares of common stock. We reserve the right to exclude from participation in the Plan persons

2

Table of Contents

who utilize the Plan to engage in short-term trading activities that cause aberrations in the trading volume of our common stock.

We reserve the right to deny or terminate participation of any shareholder residing in a jurisdiction in which their participation in the Plan would be unlawful or if we otherwise deem it advisable under any applicable law or regulation.

4. How do I enroll in the Plan?

If you are a registered holder you may join the Plan by completing and signing the Authorization Form accompanying this prospectus and returning it to Banco Popular, the Plan Administrator. See Question 15. We have provided a return envelope for this purpose. If your stock is registered in more than one name (for example, joint owners) all registered holders must sign exactly as their names appear on the account registration. If you are a beneficial owner you must instruct your broker, bank or other nominee to complete and sign the Authorization Form and return it to the Plan Administrator. In certain situations where the broker, bank or other nominee holds shares of a beneficial owner in the name of a major securities depository, a Broker and Nominee Form may also be required to participate in the Plan. If you are not currently a Popular, Inc. shareholder, but desire to become a participant by making an initial investment in shares of common stock, you may join the Plan by signing an Authorization Form and forwarding it, together with your initial investment to the Plan Administrator at the address set forth in Question 15.

Authorization Forms, Broker and Nominee Forms and additional copies of this prospectus may be obtained by contacting the Plan Administrator at: Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, PO Box 362708, San Juan, Puerto Rico 00936-2708, Attention: Popular, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (725), Telephone No. (787) 764-1893 or (787) 765-9800 (Exts. 6108 or 6112).

We may appoint from time to time one or more information agents (the Information Agent) for the Plan. We will pay the fees and expenses of the Information Agent and may agree to indemnify the Information Agent for certain liabilities which it may incur in connection with the rendering of its services for the Plan.

5. What are the options available under the Plan?

If you participate in the Plan you may choose from the following investment options:

FULL DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT option. Under this option, you may direct the Plan Administrator to invest all cash dividends on all of the shares of common stock then or subsequently registered in your name, together with any optional or initial cash payments, in the purchase of additional shares in accordance with the Plan.

PARTIAL DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT option. Under this option, your may direct the Plan Administrator to invest all cash dividends on only that number of shares of common stock registered in your name that is specified in the appropriate space on the Authorization Form, together with any optional cash or initial payments, in the purchase of additional shares in accordance with the Plan.

OPTIONAL CASH PAYMENTS ONLY option. This option permits you to make optional cash payments for the purchase of additional shares of common stock in accordance with the Plan, while continuing to receive cash dividends on shares registered in your name in the usual manner.

If you sign and return an Authorization Form with no investment alternative designated, you will be enrolled in the Full Dividend Reinvestment option.

6. May I change investment options after I enroll in the Plan?

Yes. You may change your investment option or the number of participating shares at any time by completing a new Authorization Form and returning it to the Plan Administrator at the address specified in Question 15.

7. When may I join the Plan?

Eligible shareholders and other interested investors may join the Plan at any time. If the Plan Administrator receives an Authorization Form requesting the reinvestment of dividends on or prior to the record date established for a particular dividend, reinvestment will commence with that dividend. We anticipate that the dividend record dates will normally precede the dividend payment dates by approximately two weeks. If the Authorization Form is received after the record date established for a

Table of Contents

particular dividend, then the reinvestment of dividends will not begin until the dividend payment date following the next record date.

See Questions 12 and 13 to determine when persons who select the Optional Cash Payments Only option will begin to participate in the Plan.

Purchases Under the Plan

8. What is the source of shares purchased under the Plan?

Shares of common stock purchased with reinvested dividends will be purchased directly from Popular, Inc. Shares purchased with optional cash payments will be purchased on the open market or in negotiated transactions. All shares purchased on the open market or in negotiated transactions will be purchased by Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., as agent for the participants or any other independent broker-dealer or financial institution that we may appoint from time to time to act as agent for the participants (the Agent). Purchases of shares in the open market may be made in the over-the-counter market or on any securities exchange where our common stock may be traded.

9. How will shares purchased under the Plan be allocated to my account?

Your account will be credited with the number of shares, including fractions computed to four decimal places, equal to the total amount to be invested for you less any taxes required to be withheld (see Question 20) divided by the applicable purchase price per share.

10. How will the price be determined for shares purchased under the Plan?

The price of shares purchased from Popular, Inc. with reinvested dividends under the Plan will be 95% of the average of the daily high and low sales prices of the common stock on the NASDAQ National Market System, as reported in The Wall Street Journal, for the period of the last five reported trading days immediately preceding the relevant Investment Date (the Average Market Price). See Question 11 for the definition of Investment Date. The price of shares purchased in the open market or in negotiated transactions with optional cash payments will be the weighted average price paid for all shares of common stock purchased by the Agent for the relevant Investment Date.

If there is no trading in the common stock for a substantial amount of time immediately preceding a dividend payment date, the price per share shall be determined by the Plan Administrator on the basis of such market quotations as it deems appropriate. No shares will be sold to participants in the Plan at less than \$6 per share, the par value of shares.

11. When will shares be purchased under the Plan?

Shares of common stock will be purchased for participants on the relevant Investment Dates. The Investment Dates for purchases of shares with reinvested dividends will be the common stock dividend payment dates.

The Investment Dates for initial and optional cash payments are the dates on which the Agent purchases shares in the open market or in negotiated transactions. The Agent will make such purchases on the business day following the 15th calendar day of each month or as soon as practicable thereafter. Shares of common stock purchased with initial or optional cash payments will be credited to a participant s account as of the Investment Date in which they are purchased.

Subject to any limitations imposed by federal or state securities laws, the Agent will have full discretion as to all matters relating to open market purchases, including determination of the number of shares, if any, to be purchased on any day or at any time of day, the price paid for such shares, the markets on which such shares are to be purchased (including on any securities exchange, in the over-the counter market or in negotiated transactions) and the persons (including other brokers and dealers) from or through whom such purchases are made. Under certain circumstances, observance of the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may require temporary suspension of such purchases by the Agent or may require that purchases be spread over a longer period than indicated in Questions 11 and 12. Popular, Inc., the Plan Administrator, and the Agent will not be liable when conditions prevent the purchase of shares or interfere with the timing of purchases.

4

Table of Contents

Optional Cash Payments

12. How do optional cash payments work?

If you participate in the Plan you may make optional cash payments for the purchase of additional shares of common stock at any time subject to the limitations described below and in Question 13. Checks and money orders must clear prior to the fifteenth day of the month in which the investment is to be made. All checks must be in U.S. dollars and drawn on a U.S. bank. Checks and money orders that have not cleared prior to the fifteenth day of the month will be retained by the Plan Administrator and applied to the purchase of shares on the next Investment Date. No interest will be paid on optional cash payments held pending investment. If you intend to make optional cash payments we urge you to make your payments as shortly as possible before the fifteenth day of the month but allowing sufficient time to ensure that the payment clears prior to such day. Optional cash payments received prior to the thirtieth day preceding the Investment Date on which they would be invested will be returned to the participant.

The minimum optional cash payment per month you can make is \$25 and the maximum amount is \$10,000, except that non-shareholders who wish to participate must make an initial investment of at least \$100. You do not have to invest the same amount of money each month, and you never have any obligation to make an optional cash payment. Optional cash payments will be refunded if a written request for a refund is received by the Plan Administrator at least 48 hours prior to the day when such investment is to be made, Optional cash payments of less than \$25 and that portion of any optional cash payment which exceeds \$10,000 will be returned to the participant without interest.

13. How can I make optional cash payments?

If you are a registered holder of Popular s common stock you may make an optional cash payment when enrolling in the Plan by enclosing a check or money order made payable to Banco Popular de Puerto Rico with the Authorization Form. All checks must be in U.S. dollars and drawn on a U.S. bank. Thereafter, you may make optional cash payments at any time subject to the limitations discussed in Question 12 by using the cash payment forms which will be attached to each participant s statement of account.

Alternatively, if you are a resident of Puerto Rico and maintain a savings or checking account at Banco Popular you may make optional cash payments by executing a form authorizing the Plan Administrator to debit your account at Banco Popular for the purchase of shares under the Plan or by using the Bank's telephone payment service known as Telebanco Popular. If you elect this automatic debit feature, funds will be withdrawn from your bank account on or about the 15th day of each month (or the next business day if the 15th day is not a business day).

If you hold shares through a broker, bank or other nominee that holds the shares of its clients in the name of a securities depository, optional cash payments may only be made on your behalf by your bank or broker through a Broker and Nominee Form (the B&N Form).

The B&N Form provides the sole means by which a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares of a beneficial owner in the name of a major securities depository may invest optional cash payments on behalf of a beneficial owner. In such case, the broker, bank or other nominee must use the B&N Form for transmitting optional cash payments on behalf of the beneficial owner. A B&N Form must be delivered to the Plan Administrator each time that such broker, bank or other nominee transmits optional cash payments on behalf of a beneficial owner. B&N Forms will be furnished at any time upon request to the Plan Administrator or the Information Agent at the respective address or telephone number specified in Question 15.

If you desire to participate in the Plan but are not currently a Popular, Inc. shareholder, you may submit an Authorization Form and make an initial investment in your common stock through an optional cash payment.

Costs

14. What fees are applicable to participants in the Plan?

None. We pay all costs of administering the Plan. If you participate in the Plan you will not incur any brokerage commissions, service charges or fees for shares purchased under the Plan. As discussed in Question 18, however, if you withdraw shares from the Plan and request that the Plan Administrator sell the shares, you will be charged for any related brokerage commissions and applicable transfer taxes on the sale, if any.

5

Table of Contents

Administration

15. Who administers the Plan?

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, acts as Plan Administrator. Banco Popular will acquire newly issued shares with reinvested dividends, keep records, send account statements to each participant and perform other duties related to the Plan. As described in Question 8, any shares purchased on the open market with optional or initial cash payments will be made by the Agent and delivered to Banco Popular. Banco Popular holds the shares of all participants together in its name or in the name of its nominee.

Banco Popular also acts as the dividend disbursing and transfer agent for our common stock.

Any questions and communications you may have regarding the administration of the Plan, requests for additional copies of this prospectus, the B&N Forms or the Authorization Forms should be addressed to Banco Popular at the following address and telephone number:

Banco Popular de Puerto Rico PO Box 362708 San Juan, Puerto Rico 00936-2708 Attention: Popular, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (725)

Telephone: (787) 764-1893

Reports to Participants

16. How do I keep track of my account sactivity?

The Plan Administrator maintains a separate account for each participant. All shares of common stock purchased for you under the Plan will be credited to your Plan account. As soon as practicable after each purchase of shares, the Plan Administrator will mail to you an account statement. The statement will summarize the year-to-date transactions in your account, and will indicate the number of shares purchased for you under the Plan, the price per share paid and will include any applicable tax information. You will also receive quarterly statements of account and an annual statement showing the amount of reinvested dividends as well as other transactions under the Plan. These statements should be retained by you for your records. You may be required to pay a fee for copies of previous statements. In addition, you will receive copies of the annual and quarterly reports to shareholders, proxy statements sent to all other Popular, Inc. stockholders and information for income tax reporting purposes.

Certificates for Shares

17. Will I receive stock certificates for shares purchased under the Plan?

You will not receive stock certificates for shares purchased under the Plan unless you request them. Shares of common stock purchased for you under the Plan will credited to your account in book entry form. This service protects against loss, theft or destruction of stock certificates. The number of shares credited to your Plan account will be shown on your account statement.

You may obtain a stock certificate, without charge, by making a written request to the Plan Administrator. No certificates will be issued for fractional shares of common stock. Instead, the market value of any fractional share will be paid in cash. Until you sell the shares held in your account or change the number of participating shares, dividends on all such shares will continue to be invested under the Plan even though certificates were issued to you.

You are not permitted to pledge or transfer the shares credited to your Plan account to another person unless you have requested that the shares be withdrawn from the Plan and have received certificates for such shares registered in your name. Each account under the Plan is maintained in the name in which a participant s shares are registered at the time the participant enters the Plan.

Table of Contents

Withdrawals, Sale of Shares and Termination

18. How may I withdraw or sell shares held in my Plan account?

You may withdraw any or all whole shares credited to your Plan account at any time, by notifying the Plan Administrator in writing and specifying the number of shares you want to withdraw. Certificates for the number of whole shares you requested to be withdrawn will be issued to and registered in your name. Upon your request, the Plan Administrator, through the Agent, will sell all or a portion of the shares credited to your Plan account and remit the proceeds, less any related brokerage commissions and applicable withholding or transfer taxes, if any, to you. The Plan Administrator will instruct the Agent to sell the shares in the open market at the prevailing market price within ten business days after receipt of the request or as soon as otherwise practicable. Any notice of withdrawal received by the Plan Administrator after a dividend record date will not be effective until dividends paid for such record date have been reinvested and the shares purchased have been credited to your account.

You should be aware that the Plan is not intended as a market timing vehicle and that you will not have the power to control the timing or price of the shares being sold. You will bear the market risk associated with any decrease in the price of the common stock during the period between a request for sale, its receipt by the Plan Administrator, and the ultimate sale on the market by the Agent. Instructions sent to the Plan Administrator to sell shares may not be rescinded.

Alternatively, you may sell your shares through a stockbroker of your choice or privately. In either case, you should request certificates for your shares as described above and, upon receipt proceed as you would to sell any other stock for which you have certificates.

Please note that if your account holds less than one full share, we may close your account, liquidate the fractional share and send you a check representing the value of the fractional share.

19. How and when may I close my Plan account?

You may close your Plan account at any time by written notice to the Plan Administrator. As soon as practicable following termination, the Plan Administrator will send you a certificate for the number of whole shares in your account and a check in an amount equal to the value of any fractional share based upon the average of the daily high and low sales prices of the common stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market System for the date of termination. If you so request, the Plan Administrator will sell all of the shares held in your account in the manner described in Question 18 and send you a check for the proceeds from the sale, less any related brokerage commissions and applicable withholding or transfer taxes, if any.

Your account will normally be closed within 30 days after the Plan Administrator receives your written instructions. If your request to close your account is received on or after the record date for a dividend, cash dividends paid with respect to that record date will be reinvested in shares of common stock for your account. Any optional cash payments sent by you to the Plan Administrator prior to your request for termination will be invested unless you expressly request return of this amount in the request to close your account and the request is received at least two business days prior to the time when such amount would otherwise be applied to purchase shares. If dividends or optional cash payments are invested after the Plan Administrator has received a request to close your account, the request will be processed as promptly as possible.

The Plan Administrator may also terminate a participant s participation in the Plan if it receives written notice of the death or adjudicated incompetency of a participant. Upon termination by reason of notice of death or adjudicated incompetency, no purchase of shares of common stock will be made for the participant s account and the participant s shares, any cash dividends paid thereon and any other unapplied funds will be retained by the Plan Administrator until such time as such participant s legal representative has been appointed and has furnished proof satisfactory to the Plan Administrator of the legal representative s right to receive payment.

After closing your account, all cash dividends will be paid to you in cash unless you choose to rejoin the Plan, which you may do at any time by completing and returning to the Plan Administrator an Authorization Form as described in Question 4.

7

Certain Tax Consequences of Participation in the Plan

20. What are the Puerto Rico and federal income tax consequences of participation in the Plan?

The following statements, which are based upon existing tax laws, regulations and rulings on the date of this prospectus, are intended to be a general outline of the likely Puerto Rico and federal income tax consequences to an individual or corporate participant in the Plan. Popular, Inc. has been advised with regard to such statements by Pietrantoni Mendez & Alvarez LLP, San Juan, Puerto Rico. As of the date of this prospectus, partners of Pietrantoni Méndez & Alvarez LLP beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 7,400 shares of common stock of Popular, Inc.

The information herein provided is a summary and does not purport to be a complete description of the income tax consequences to any participant in the Plan. In particular, it does not address the income tax consequences to an individual participant who is a non-resident alien. Participants should consult their own tax advisors for further information concerning the tax consequences of participation in the Plan.

General Tax Consequences

- (a) In the case of shares of common stock purchased from Popular, Inc. at a discount with cash dividends, the fair market value on the dividend payment date of the shares purchased, plus the amount of any tax withheld, will constitute dividend income to the participant. The participant s tax basis in such shares will be the fair market value of the shares on the dividend payment date.
- (b) A participant acquiring shares of common stock through optional cash payments under the Plan will not realize taxable income on the purchase of shares for his or her account, except that the participant will have dividend income in the amount of any brokerage commissions or service fees paid by Popular, Inc., if any. The tax basis of shares of common stock purchased for a participant s Plan account with optional cash payments will be the amount of the optional cash payments plus an allocable share of any brokerage commissions paid by Popular, Inc., if any.
- (c) A participant s holding period for shares of common stock acquired pursuant to the Plan will begin on the day following the date the shares of common stock are credited to the participant s account.
- (d) A participant will not realize taxable income when he or she receives certificates for whole shares of common stock credited to the participant s account, either upon the participant s request for such certificates or upon termination of the Plan or termination of his or her participation in the Plan.
- (e) A participant will realize gain or loss when the shares of common stock are sold or exchanged, and in the case of a fractional share, when the participant receives a cash payment for a fraction of a share credited to the participant s account upon termination of participation in or termination of the Plan. The amount of such gain or loss will be the difference between the amount which the participant receives for the shares or fraction of a share and the tax basis thereof
- (f) In the case of holders of common stock whose dividends are subject to Puerto Rico income tax withholding, Popular, Inc. will withhold the tax from the cash dividends and invest the balance in shares of common stock. Based on a private letter ruling issued by the Puerto Rico Department of the Treasury, Popular, Inc. will not withhold taxes on the additional dividend resulting from the discount in the purchase of shares and any brokerage commissions or service fees paid by Popular, Inc. under the Plan. Popular, Inc. will report the amount of such additional dividend to the Puerto Rico Department of the Treasury and to participants at the end of each calendar year. In addition, Popular, Inc. will send participants a letter advising them of their obligation to file Puerto Rico income tax returns and to pay the tax due on the portion of the dividend attributable to the amount of the discount and the brokerage commissions or service fees. In the case of participants who qualify for the special tax of ten percent (10%) on dividends, such special rate will apply to the additional dividend. The statements confirming purchases made for such participants will indicate the amount of tax withheld and the amount of discount received.

Puerto Rico Income Tax Consequences

Individuals

(a) An individual participant in the Plan, whether a resident of Puerto Rico or a U.S. citizen who is not a resident of Puerto Rico (a non-resident U.S. citizen), will be subject to a special tax equal to ten percent (10%) of the gross amount of each cash dividend distribution. This special tax will be automatically deducted and withheld by Popular, Inc. unless the participant has in effect on the date of the distribution an election not to have the special dividend tax withheld. If such election is made the dividend will be subject to the ordinary tax rates.

(b) An individual participant who is a non-resident U.S. citizen will be subject to a ten percent (10%) income tax withholding at source on the gross amount of cash dividends, unless, in addition to the election not to have the special dividend tax withheld, he has filed with the Plan Administrator a Withholding Exemption Certificate for exemption from the ten percent (10%) withholding tax. In this case, the maximum amount of Puerto Rico source

8

Table of Contents

gross income (including the dividends distributed by Popular, Inc. and any gain from the sale in Puerto Rico of common stock) that the non-resident U.S. citizen will receive exempt from withholding is \$1,300 if single, or \$3,000 if married and living with spouse. Popular, Inc. will withhold a ten percent (10%) income tax on the non-resident U.S. citizen s dividend distribution in excess of the above specified amounts.

Furthermore, a non-resident U.S. citizen will be required to file a Puerto Rico income tax return and will be subject to tax at the same tax rates as Puerto Rico residents if his Puerto Rico source gross income exceeds the \$1,300 and \$3,000 limits. The tax withheld by Popular, Inc. may be credited in the return against the resulting Puerto Rico tax liability, if any, or refunded to the individual as the case may be. Even though the non-resident U.S. citizen may be required to file a Puerto Rico income tax return, he will not be subject to any Puerto Rico income tax liability if his gross income from Puerto Rico sources is \$3,300 or less, if single, or \$6,000 or less, if married and living with spouse. However, a non-resident U.S. citizen will not be required to file a Puerto Rico income tax return if such participant s gross income from sources within Puerto Rico consists only of cash dividends on common stock and such dividends are subject to the special 10% tax to be withheld at source.

- (c) In the case of the sale or exchange of common stock held as a capital asset for more than six months, an individual who is a Puerto Rico resident has the option to have his net long term capital gain taxed at a special ten percent (10%) rate or to include it in his gross income and be subject to the normal tax rates.
- (d) An individual participant who is a non-resident U.S. citizen will not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax on the sale or exchange of common stock if the sale or exchange is effected outside Puerto Rico. If the sale takes place in Puerto Rico, the gain will be subject to the same capital gain provisions applicable to a Puerto Rico resident and the buyer is required to withhold ten percent (10%) from the sales price.

Corporations

- (a) In the case of participant corporations, the special ten percent (10%) tax on dividends and 20% tax on capital gains discussed above will not apply.
- (b) In the case of participant corporations organized in Puerto Rico (domestic corporations) and participant corporations organized outside Puerto Rico but that are engaged in trade or business in Puerto Rico (resident foreign corporations), the full amount of dividend income will be eligible for the eighty-five percent (85%) dividends received deduction provided the dividend deduction does not exceed eighty-five percent (85%) of the corporate taxpayer is net taxable income reported in Puerto Rico.
- (c) In the case of participant corporations organized outside Puerto Rico and not engaged in trade or business in Puerto Rico (non-resident foreign corporations), the full amount of dividend income will be subject to a ten percent (10%) withholding tax at source. On the sale or exchange of common stock, these non-resident foreign corporations will be subject to a twelve and one-half percent (12.5%) income tax withholding on the gross amount received to the extent said amount constitutes income from sources within Puerto Rico. However, the tax withheld will be credited against the Puerto Rico income tax liability reported by the corporation on its Puerto Rico return, which would be twenty-nine percent (29%) of the excess capital gains over capital losses from Puerto Rico sources.
- (d) For Puerto Rico tax purposes, the gain from the sale of stock is considered derived from the place where all rights, title and interest on the stock pass from seller to purchaser. In the case of foreign corporations, whether resident or nonresident, if the sale is effected outside Puerto Rico, the gain will not be subject to Puerto Rico income taxes except for certain resident foreign corporations engaged in a financial business or in the business of trading in securities.
- (e) In the case of a domestic corporation holding the common stock as a capital asset for more than six months, gain from the sale or exchange of common stock will be subject to a twelve and one half percent (12.5%) maximum tax on the capital gain irrespective of where the sale is effected. To the extent the gain constitutes income from sources within Puerto Rico or otherwise constitutes income effectively connected with a Puerto Rico business, a resident foreign corporation holding the common stock as a capital asset for more than six months will also be subject to this maximum twelve and one half percent (12.5%) tax rate.

Institutional Investors

Dividends paid to certain institutional investors such as life insurance companies may or may not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax. Participants should contact their own tax advisors as to the applicability of this exemption.

O

Federal Income Tax Consequences

- (a) In the case of a participant who is a U.S. citizen not a resident of Puerto Rico, dividend distributions from Popular, Inc. and gain from the sale of common stock will have to be included in full in his or her federal income tax return. However, Puerto Rico taxes paid may generally be taken as a foreign tax credit against the United States income tax liability, or in the alternative, as an itemized deduction.
- (b) In the case of a participant who is a U.S. citizen and a bona fide resident of Puerto Rico for the entire taxable year, dividend distributions from Popular, Inc. and gain from the sale of common stock are excludable from the federal return.
- (c) In the case of a participant which is a United States corporation, the full amount of dividends distributed will be included in gross income and not be eligible for the dividends received deduction. However, taxes paid in Puerto Rico may generally be taken as a foreign tax credit or as a deduction in the federal income tax return.

Other Information

21. Can I pledge or transfer the shares held in my account?

You may not pledge or transfer the shares credited to your account unless you have requested and received certificates for such shares registered in your name. Refer to Question 18 to see how you can sell the shares credited to your Plan account.

22. What happens if I sell or transfer some or all of the shares registered in my name?

If you sell or transfer a portion of the shares registered in your name and you have chosen the Full Dividend Reinvestment option, dividends on all shares remaining registered in your name will continue to be reinvested. If you have chosen the Partial Dividend Reinvestment option, dividends on a number of shares remaining registered in your name up to the number of shares originally authorized will continue to be reinvested.

23. What happens if Popular, Inc. has a rights offering?

A rights offering takes place when Popular, Inc. issues to existing shareholders the right to purchase additional shares of common stock in proportion to the shares they already own. In the event of a rights offering, you will receive rights based upon the total number of whole shares you own, whether the shares are held in the form of a physical certificate or held in your Plan account.

A rights offering such as the one referred to in this Question 23 is not related to the Preferred Rights attached to the shares of Popular, Inc. common stock, as described on page 16 of this prospectus.

24. What happens if Popular, Inc. issues a stock dividend or declares a stock split?

Any stock dividends or split shares distributed by Popular, Inc. on shares registered in your name or credited to your Plan account will be added to your Plan account and reflected in the account statement described in Question 16.

25. May I vote the shares credited to my Plan account at shareholders meetings?

Yes. In connection with all Popular, Inc. annual or special meetings of shareholders you will be sent a proxy card representing both the shares registered in your name and the shares held in your Plan account. Those shares will be voted as you indicate on the returned card or as otherwise set forth in the proxy materials.

26. What are the responsibilities of Popular, Inc., the Plan Administrator, the Agent and the Information Agent under the Plan?

Popular, Inc., the Plan Administrator, the Agent and any Information Agent appointed by Popular, Inc. will not be liable under the Plan for any act done in good faith or for any good faith omission to act, including, without limitation, any claim of liability arising out of failure to terminate a participant s account upon the participant s death, the prices at which shares are purchased or sold for your account, the times when purchases or sales are made, check clearing or fluctuations in the market value of Popular, Inc., common stock. You should recognize that Popular, Inc., the Plan Administrator, the Agent and any Information Agent cannot provide you with any assurance of a profit

or protection against a loss on the shares of common stock purchased or held for you under the Plan. Popular, Inc., the Plan Administrator, the Agent and any Information Agent and their agents will not have any responsibility

10

Table of Contents

beyond the exercise of ordinary care for any action taken or omitted to be taken in connection with the Plan, nor do they have any duties, responsibilities or liabilities other than those expressly set forth in the Plan.

You should be aware and are cautioned that this prospectus does not represent a change in Popular, Inc. s dividend policy nor a guarantee of future dividends, which will continue to depend upon our earnings, financial requirements, governmental regulations and other factors.

27. What happens if the Agent cannot purchase shares for the Plan in the open market?

In the event that applicable law or the closing of securities markets requires the temporary curtailment or suspension of open market purchases of shares under the Plan, the Agent will not be accountable for its inability to make purchases at such times. If shares of common stock are not available for purchase for a period longer than thirty-five days, the Plan Administrator will promptly mail you a check payable to your order in the amount of any unapplied funds in your account.

28. May the terms of the Plan be changed or the Plan suspended or discontinued?

Yes. We reserve the right to modify the terms of the Plan at any time and from time to time, and we may suspend or terminate the Plan at any time, including the period between a record date and a dividend payment date, in each case in our sole discretion. All participants will be notified by mail of any material amendment or modification, or of any suspension or termination.

Upon termination of the Plan, the Plan Administrator will return any uninvested optional cash payments, issue a certificate for the whole shares of common stock credited to your Plan account, and make a cash payment equal to the net proceeds from the sale of any fractional share credited to your account.

29. Can Popular, Inc. name successor Plan Administrators or Agents?

Yes. We may from time to time designate a bank, trust company, brokerage firm or other financial institution as successor Plan Administrator or Agent under the Plan.

30. Can my interest in the Plan be terminated by Popular, Inc. or the Plan Administrator?

Yes. Popular, Inc. or the Plan Administrator may terminate any participant s participation in the Plan at any time for any reason, including, without limitation, arbitrage-related activities or transactional profit activities, by notice in writing mailed to the participant. The Plan Administrator will follow the procedures for termination set forth in Question 19 in connection with any termination.

31. Does the Plan offer safekeeping services?

Yes. If you own Popular, Inc. stock certificates, you may send them to the Plan Administrator for deposit as book-entry shares held in your Plan account. Such certificates should be sent by registered mail in transferable form and must be accompanied by your written request that the shares of common stock evidenced thereby be added to your Plan account.

32. May I use the safekeeping services even if I don t participate in other features of the Plan?

Yes. Shareholders, whether or not they participate in other features of the Plan, may deposit some or all of their certificates of common stock with the Plan Administrator for safekeeping. There is no cost for this service. To use this service, you should send your certificates to the Plan Administrator by registered mail in transferable form with written instructions to deposit them in safekeeping. Unless you elect to have your dividends reinvested in accordance with the terms of the Plan, dividends on all the shares deposited for safekeeping will be paid in cash.

33. What is the policy on returned checks and insufficient funds?

In the event that any check or other deposit is returned unpaid for any reason or your designated bank account does not have sufficient funds for an automatic debit, the Plan Administrator will consider the request for investment of that purchase null and void and will immediately remove from your account any shares already purchased in anticipation of receiving those funds. If the net proceeds from the sale of those shares are insufficient to satisfy the balance of the uncollected amounts, the Plan Administrator may sell additional shares from your account as necessary to satisfy the uncollected balance. There is a \$25.00 administrative charge for any check or other deposit that is returned unpaid by your bank. This fee will be collected by the Plan Administrator through the sale of the number of shares from your

account necessary to satisfy the fees.

11

Table of Contents

34. What is sufficient notice to a participant?

Any notice or certificate which by any provision of the Plan is required to be given by the Plan Administrator to a participant shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given for all purposes by being deposited postage prepaid in a post office letter box addressed to the participant at the participant s address as it shall last appear on the Plan Administrator s records.

35. Who interprets the Plan and what law governs?

Popular, Inc. will determine any question of interpretation under the Plan under the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any such determination will be final.

STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

On August 28, 1998, the holders of shares of Popular, Inc. common stock outstanding at the close of business on August 28, 1998 received the right (the Preferred Rights) to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock of Popular, Inc. (Series A Participating Preferred Stock) pursuant to a Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, dated as of August 13, 1998, (the Rights Agreement), between Popular, Inc. and Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, as Rights Agent. One Preferred Right is attached to each outstanding share of Popular, Inc. common stock. In addition, as long as the Preferred Rights are attached to the common stock, one Preferred Right will be issued with each new share of common stock issued. At the time the Preferred Rights become exercisable, separate certificates will be issued and the Preferred Rights could begin to trade separately from the common stock. Preferred Rights become exercisable upon the earlier to occur (i) on the first day, or such later date as the Board of Directors of Popular, Inc. may from time to time fix, on which Popular, Inc. publicly announces that any person or group has acquired 10% or more of the outstanding common stock of Popular, Inc. (the Flip-in Date), or (ii) the tenth business day (or such later date as the Board of Directors of Popular, Inc. may from time to time fix) after a person or group commences a tender or exchange offer which, if consummated, would result in that person or group beneficially owning more than 10% of the outstanding stock of Popular, Inc. On and after a Flip-in Date, Popular, Inc. is required to take such action as shall be necessary so that each Preferred Right (other than Rights beneficially owned by the person or group that acquired more than 10% of the outstanding common stock, which Rights shall become void) shall constitute the right to purchase from Popular, Inc. that number of shares of common stock of Popular, Inc. having an aggregate price equal to twice the exercise price (currently \$140) for an amount in cash equal to the then current exercise price. The rights are subject to redemption and exchange for shares of common stock at the option of Popular, Inc., on the terms set forth in the Rights Agreement. The Preferred Rights may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and generally may cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire Popular, Inc. under circumstances not approved by Popular, Inc. s Board of Directors. Popular, Inc. has filed a copy of the Rights Agreement with the SEC.

Since the Preferred Rights will not be exercisable or transferable apart from the Popular, Inc. common stock until the conditions described above occur, no action is required to be taken by a participant at this time.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We may use the net proceeds from the sale of any shares of common stock purchased directly from us with reinvested dividends for:

general corporate purposes, including investments in, or extensions of credit to, existing and future subsidiaries,

the acquisition of other banking and financial institutions, and

repayment of outstanding borrowings.

We do not at present have any plans to use the proceeds from any offering for a material acquisition or to repay outstanding borrowings. We will not receive any proceeds from purchases of common stock made by the Agent in the open market with initial or optional cash payments. We are unable to estimate the number of shares that will be purchased directly from Popular, Inc. under the Plan or the amount of proceeds from the sale such shares.

12

INCORPORATION OF INFORMATION WE FILE WITH THE SEC

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with them, which means:

incorporated documents are considered part of the prospectus;

we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents; and

information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this incorporated information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below which Popular, Inc. filed with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act:

- 1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, provided, however, that the information referred to in Item 402(a)(8) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC shall not be deemed to be specifically incorporated by reference in this prospectus.
 - 2. The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2002;
 - 3. The Current Reports on Form 8-K, dated January 9, 2002, April 10, 2002, and May 16, 2002;
- 4. The Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed with the SEC on August 18, 1988, pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act relating to Popular, Inc. common stock; and
- 5. The Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on August 28, 1998, pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act pursuant to which Popular, Inc. registered its Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock Purchase Rights.

We also incorporate by reference each of the following documents that Popular, Inc. will file with the SEC after the date of this prospectus until this offering is completed or after the date of the initial registration statement and before effectiveness of the registration statement:

reports filed under Sections 13(a) and (c) of the Exchange Act;

definitive proxy or information statements filed under Section 14 of the Exchange Act in connection with any subsequent stockholders meeting; and

any reports filed under Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

You should rely only on information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not, and the agents and dealers have not, authorized any other person to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not, and the agents and dealers are not, making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate as of the date of this prospectus only. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may have changed since that date.

You may request a copy of any filings referred to above (excluding exhibits, other than exhibits that are specifically incorporated by reference in those filings), at no cost, by contacting us at the following address: Amilcar Jordan, Senior Vice President, Popular, Inc., PO Box 362708, San Juan, Puerto Rico 00936-2708. Telephone requests may be directed to (787) 765-9800. You may also access this information at our website at http://www.bancopopular.com.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC filings are also available over the Internet at the SEC s web site at http://www.sec.gov or at our web site at http://www.bancopopular.com. You may also read and copy any document we file by visiting the SEC s public reference rooms. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference rooms. We filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC relating to the securities. This prospectus is a part of the registration statement and does not contain all of the information in the registration statement. Whenever a reference is made in this prospectus to a contract or other document, please be aware that the reference is only a summary and that you should refer to the exhibits that are part of the registration statement for a copy of the contract or other document.

13

Table of Contents

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Information incorporated in this prospectus by reference, contains certain forward-looking statements concerning our operations, performance and financial condition, including our future economic performance, plans and objectives and the likelihood of success in developing and expanding our business. Please keep in mind that these statements are based upon a number of assumptions and estimates which are subject to significant uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. The words may, would, could, will, expect, anticipate, intend, plan, estimate and similar expressions are meant to identify such forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

LEGAL MATTERS

Brunilda Santos de Alvarez, Esq., Executive Vice President and Legal Counsel to Popular, Inc., will pass upon the validity of the common stock to be issued pursuant to the Plan. As of June 15, 2002, she owned 5,846 shares of Popular, Inc. common stock directly and pursuant to Popular, Inc. s employee stock ownership plan. She also held stock options to acquire 11,386 shares of common stock pursuant to Popular, Inc. s stock option plan as of the date of this prospectus.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements incorporated in this prospectus by reference to Popular, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

14

POPULAR, INC.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Part II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution*

Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee	\$ 8,898
Legal fees and expenses	7,500
Printing expenses	10,000
Accounting fees and expenses	5,000
Miscellaneous expenses	5,000
TOTAL	36,398

^{*} All of such items except the registration fee are estimated. All of such expenses will be borne by Popular, Inc. **Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.**

Popular, Inc. is a Puerto Rico corporation.

- (a) Article ELEVENTH of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Popular, Inc. provides the following:
- (1) Popular, Inc. shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of Popular, Inc.) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of Popular, Inc., or is or was serving at the written request of Popular, Inc. as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Popular, Inc., and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendre or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Popular, Inc. and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.
- (2) Popular, Inc. shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of Popular, Inc. to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of Popular, Inc., or is or was serving at the written request of Popular, Inc. as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Popular, Inc., except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to Popular, Inc. unless and

II-1

Table of Contents

only to the extent that the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper.

- (3) To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of Popular, Inc. has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in paragraph 1 or 2 of this Article ELEVENTH, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.
- (4) Any indemnification under paragraph l or 2 of this Article ELEVENTH (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by Popular, Inc. only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth therein. Such determination shall be made (a) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, or (b) if such a quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, or (c) by the shareholders.
- (5) Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by Popular, Inc. in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding as authorized by the Board of Directors in the specific case upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee or agent to repay such amount unless it shall untimely be determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by Popular, Inc. as authorized in this Article ELEVENTH.
- (6) The indemnification provided by this Article ELEVENTH shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any statute, by-law, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
- (7) By action of its Board of Directors, notwithstanding any interest of the directors in the action, Popular, Inc. may purchase and maintain insurance, in such amounts as the Board of Directors deems appropriate, on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of Popular, Inc., or is or was serving at the written request of Popular, Inc. as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not Popular, Inc. would have the power or would be required to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article ELEVENTH or of the General Corporation Law of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico or of any other state of the United States or foreign country as may be applicable.
- (b) Section 1202 of Title 14, Laws of Puerto Rico Annotated provides the following:

Every corporation created under the provisions of this subtitle shall have the power to

*** (10) indemnify any and all of its directors or officers or former directors or officer or any person who may have served at its request as a director or officer of another corporation in which it owns shares of capital stock or of which it is a creditor against expenses actually and necessarily incurred by them in connection with the defense of any action, suit or proceeding in which they, or any of them, are made parties, or a party, by reason of being or

11-2

Table of Contents

having been directors or officers or a director or officer of the corporation, or of such other corporation, except in relation to matters as to which any such director or officer or former director or officer or person shall be adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of duty. Such indemnification shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled, under any by-law, agreement, vote of stockholders or otherwise.

(c) Popular, Inc. maintains directors and officers liability insurance.

Item 16. Exhibits.

(4)(a)	-	Articles of Incorporation of Popular, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (4)(a) of Registration Statement No. 333-26941)
(4)(b)	-	Bylaws of Popular, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registration Statement No. 333-80167)
(4)(c)	-	Form of certificate for Popular, Inc. common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Popular, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.
(4)(d)	-	Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, dated as of August 13, 1998 by and between Popular, Inc. and Banco Popular de Puerto Rico as Rights Agent, including Form of Rights Certificate attached as Exhibit B thereto. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Popular, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 13, 1998.)
(4)(e)	-	Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock, dated August 3, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Popular, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 3, 1999)
(5)	-	Opinion of Brunilda Santos de Alvarez, Esq.
(8)	-	Opinion of Pietrantoni Méndez & Alvarez LLP regarding tax matters
(23)(a)	-	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
(23)(b)	-	Consent of Brunilda Santos de Alvarez, Esq. (included in Exhibit (5))
(23)(c)	-	Consent of Pietrantoni Méndez & Alvarez LLP (included in Exhibit (8))
(24)	-	Powers of Attorney (included on pages II-5 through II-6)
99(a)	-	Specimen Authorization Form (English version)
99(b)	-	Specimen Authorization Form (Spanish version)
99(c)	-	Specimen Broker and Nominee Form.

Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (a) (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
 - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
- (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereto) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20 % change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement; and

II-3

Table of Contents

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement.

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and then offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (b) That, for the purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the provisions referred to in Item 15 of this registration statement, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification by the registrant against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-4

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the undersigned registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Juan, Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, on the 28th day of June, 2002.

POPULAR, INC.

(Registrant)

By: /s/ JORGE A. JUNQUERA

Name: Jorge A. Junquera Title: Senior Executive Vice President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Richard L. Carrión, Jorge A. Junquera, David H. Chafey, Jr. and Brunilda Santos de Alvarez, and each of them, each with full power to act without the other, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and any registration statement relating to the same offering as this registration statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each of said agent and attorney-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date	
/s/ Richard L. Carrión Richard L. Carrión	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	June 28, 2002	
/s/ José B. Carrión, Jr.	Director	June 28, 2002	
José B. Carrión, Jr. /s/ Juan J. Bermúdez	Director	Ivan 20 2002	
Juan J. Bermúdez	Director	June 28, 2002	
	II-5		

Table of Contents

Signature	Title	
/s/ David H. Chafey, Jr. David H. Chafey, Jr.	Senior Executive Vice President and Director	June 28, 2002
	Director	
Antonio Luis Ferré	_	
/s/ Héctor R. González	Director	June 28, 2002
Héctor R. González	_	
/s/ Jorge A. Junquera	Senior Executive Vice President - (Principal Financial Officer) and	June 28, 2002
Jorge A. Junquera	Director	
/s/ Manuel Morales, Jr.	Director	June 28, 2002
Manuel Morales, Jr.		
/s/ Francisco M. Rexach, Jr.	Director	June 28, 2002
Francisco M. Rexach, Jr.		
/s/ Félix J. Serrallés, Jr.	Director	June 28, 2002
Félix J. Serrallés, Jr.		
/s/ Julio E. Vizcarrondo, Jr.	Director	June 28, 2002
Julio E. Vizcarrondo, Jr.		
/s/ Amilcar Jordán	Senior Vice President — (Principal Accounting Officer)	June 28, 2002
Amilcar Jordán		

II-6